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Our mission is to provide a pioneering and empowering heritage 

destination in order to mobilise for reconciliation and nation building in our country; 
to reflect upon our past, improving our present and building our future as a united 
nation; and to contribute continentally and internationally to the formation of better 
human understanding among nations and peoples.
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EXCO   Executive Committee

HSRC   Human Science Research Council

DAC   Department of Arts and Culture

MTEF   Medium Terms Expenditure 

BEE    Black Economic Empowerment

VVR    Veterans Voice Radio

SETA   Sector Education Training Authority

HK   Heritage & Knowledge

CACPIR  Center for the Advancement of Citizenry Participation in International Relations 

CBD   Central Business District

DSAC   Department of Sport, Arts and Culture

CEO   Chief Executive Officer

SCM   Supply Chain Management

CTMM   City of Tshwane Metro Municipality

PFMA   Public Finance Management Act

IKS    Indigenous Knowledge Systems

SANRAL   South African National Roads Agency Ltd

NEHAWU  National Education Health and Allied Workers Union

SMME   Small Medium and Micro Enterprises

CRM   Customer Relations Manager

TTA    Tshwane Tourism Association

CCTV    Closed Circuit Television

ICT   Information Communication Technology

DDMV   Department of Military Veterans

HR     Human Resource

DH   Departmental Head

SAPESI   South African Primary Education Support Initiatives

PAA   Pan African Archives

SLA   Service Level Agreement

GCIS    Government Communication Information Systems

CFO   Chief Financial Officer

SALI   South African Landscapers Institute

UNESCO   United Nations Educational Cultural Organisation

TR   Treasury Regulations

AGSA    Auditor General of South Africa

BBBEE  Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment

AVE    Advertising Value Equivalence
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PUBLIC ENTITY'S 
GENERAL INFORMATION

Fax Number     +27 012 336 4021 

Registered Name     Freedom Park 

Physical Address     Corner Koch Street and 7th Avenue 

      0001 

      Pretoria 

      Pretoria 0001 
       

Registration Number    GG NO 31443 of 26 September 2008 

      Salvokop   

           

Postal Address    PO Box 2710 

Telephone Number    +27 012 336 4000 

Website Address     www.freedompark.co.za

Email Address    info@freedompark.co.za

External Auditors     Auditor-General of South Africa 

Bankers      Nedbank 

Company Secretary    Ms RM Koto

20 YEARS
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The installation and opening of the high profile 
Ahmed Timol Mobile Exhibition in //hapo was 
another opportunity seized. Ahmed Timol was a 
freedom fighter who contributed significantly to the 
building of the underground movement during the 
liberation struggle and was tortured and killed by 
the police during his detention at the John Vorster 
Square Police Station in Johannesburg on the 
27th October 1971. However, amidst these 
opportunities, we also experienced sporadic 
labour unrest that were amicably resolved. 

Strategic Overview

The Entity continued supporting the shareholder's 
imperatives on programmes relating to social 
cohesion, nation-building and reconciliation as 
outlined in government priority on social cohesion 
and safe communities. This includes our 
reconciliation initiatives with the Voortrekker 
Monument, which represent the past and 
contrasting history we have. One such initiative 
was the debate between youth from the afrikaans, 
blacks and disadvantaged communities during the 
commemoration of the youth month. Our drive 
was, however, not only limited to Voortrekker 
Monument, but to all our stakeholders who share 
the same vision of uniting the South African 
society.
 

The year 2019/2020, was filled with many 
opportunities, such as the donation of the mobile 
exhibition truck for outreach purposes; the 
temporary storage of the Radio Freedom 
equipment; the hosting of the Newsmaker of the 
Year Award Ceremony; the hosting of the dialogue 
with the Argentinian Embassy on International 
Human Rights; Freedom Park's participation on 
the UNESCO led African Liberation Heritage 
Route. The organisation achieved an overall 
performance of 85% and as in the previous 
financial year, received an unqualified report in 
accordance with the Auditor General of South 
Africa's (AGSA) assessment.The nomination of 
our CEO in the 17TH  Annual Standard Bank Top 
Women's Awards,  also made us proud.

In pursuing the mandate of Freedom Park, more 
than 139 895 names has been inscribed on the 

Wall of Names to date. These include South 
African, Continental and International heroes and 
heroines who contributed to our struggles for 
f r e e d o m  a n d  h u m a n i t y.  T i m e l i n e s  f o r 
memorialization of the names of Patrice Lumumba 
(Congo) and Robert Mugabe (Zimbabwe) will be 
inscribed on the Wall of Names under the category 
of International Solidarity in 2020-2021. They will 
also be memorialized in the Gallery of Leaders 
(currently a total of 44 names of leaders). The 
Gallery of Leaders project is currently in progress 
and it is estimated to be completed during 2021-
2022 financial year.

The Entity has consistently improved on its annual 
performance. The organisation achieved 85% 
targets on its annual performance plan. This was 
despite financial constraints the labour unrest and 
the Salvokop community strike experienced 
during the course of the year. Clear strategic 
direction and oversight were provided through the 
Shareholder, the Council and its Committees. The 
Council continued to determine policies that 
govern and guide the organisation.

Freedom Park has a zero-tolerance to fraud and 
corruption. Council has made provision, through 
policies, to prevent fraud and corruption within the 
organisation. The necessary awareness and 
training was conducted through management 
processes to continue combating fraudulent  & 
corrupt activities. 

The image and positioning of Freedom Park were 
impacted by the labour unrest as well as the 
Salvokop community strike. Plans to intensify 
positioning and reputation management are also 
included in the new 5-year business Strategy as 
well as Annual Performance Plan (APP).
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The organisation had to let go of a staff member 
who committed fraud in the course of performing 
their job. We applaud our management and staff 
for the seamless implementation of these policies.

The Entity has since its inception maintained a 
cordial working relationship with most government 
departments from national, provincial, local and  
other entities/agencies, non-governmental 
organisations, academic institutions, chapter 9 
institutions as per the constitution, embassies, 
inter-faith based organisations, business 
fraternities, political parties, tourism agencies, 
traditional leaders, communities, and so on.

Freedom Park signed several MoUs in 2019/2020, 
bringing the total number of strategic partners to 
34. This number includes relationships entered 
with tourist agents. In the year under review, we 
welcomed a large number of learners brought by 
these tourist agents. We also hosted relationships  
with Heritage institutions pursuing the same vision 
as Freedom Park. A joint youth camp in 
collaboration with Robben Island Museum was 
held in December 2019. The youth camp is one of 
those annual activities done in an effort to educate 
youth about the fruits of democracy and civil rights. 
High profiled organisations and individuals also 
visited Freedom Park for various reasons and 
collaborations viz:

  

Ÿ Former MEC of Human Settlements - Mr K 
Moiloa, from Gauteng province on guided 
tour visited on the 19th June 2019.

Ÿ Mexican Ambassador, Ms A.L Fajer, on 
d iscuss ions  w i th  CEO on  poss ib le 
collaborations and Venue recci held on  the 
13th March 2020.

Ÿ Deputy President, H.E Mr S Valdes Mesa 
from Cuba, on wreath-laying ceremony 
hosted 23rd May 2019.

Ÿ Deputy Minister of Defence Cuba, General 
Joaquin Quinta Sola, for a wreath-laying 
ceremony hosted on the 5th March 2020.  

Ÿ Mrs Z Mbeki on Young Women development 
dialogue from South Africa hosted on the 13th 
July 2019.

Ÿ Minister of Arts & Culture, Mr N Mthethwa, 
on the Shareholder compact signing hosted 
on the 11th December 2019.

      

Ÿ Honorable Ms Lalatiana Andriantongarivo 
Rakotondrazafy, Minister of Communication 
and Culture, Handover Ceremony of Radio 
Freedom from Madagascar to South Africa 
on the  24th  April 2019.

    

Strategic Relationships
            

Ÿ 2nd President of the Democratic Republic 
of South Africa, H.E Mr T Mbeki, hosted 
Youth Day Intergenerational dialogue 
through Thabo Mbeki Foundation on the 16th 
June 2019.

Ÿ Bishop E.E. Lekganyane- Leader of the St 
Engenas ZCC church on a guided tour from 
South Africa visited on the 18th June 2019.

Ÿ Ambassador II Rogachev, of the Russian 
Federation in South Africa, on wreath-laying 
ceremony hosted on the 21st August 2019

Ÿ Ambassador Rodolfo Benitez Verson on 

the 5th Anniversary of the passing of Fidel 
Castro from Cuban embassy hosted 25th 
November 2019

Ÿ Ambassador Alberto D'Alotto of Argentina 
hosted a Public Lecture on Reconciliation 
and human rights commemorations on the 
10th December 2019

Challenges Faced by the Council
           

 

In the previous year, we experienced challenges 
relating to the maintenance of Freedom Park 
assets due to consistent budgetary constraints. A 
process to conduct a condition assessment to 
determine the preventative maintenance plan in 
the medium to long term was concluded in June 
2019. A ten year Preventative maintenance plan 
was developed following the assessment.  



Chairperson Freedom Park
Mr MCR Makopo
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This was approved by Council and considered by 
the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) in July 
2019 and an approved infrastructure and 
maintenance budget was transferred in November 
2019 and March 2020 respectively. A process for 
implementation is underway. 

By the end of the financial year, Covid-19 
presented  new challenges and risks with regards 
to Occupat ional  Heal th and Safety.The 
government had to declare a National State of 
Disaster, in which all citizens had to abide by. This 
will pose a challenge for the implementation of 
strategies and programmes for the next financial 
year and will demand a new way of doing things.

The Year Ahead

Council has approved a five-year strategy and 
Annual Performance Plan (APP) in responding to 
the sixth government administration and the 
National Development Plan (NDP). We will 
support the new government priorities. We will 
work with existing and envisaged strategic 
partners in achieving set goals and strategies. Key 
to  our  s t ra teg ic  par tners  are s taff and 
management who always work tirelessly to ensure 
the achievement of these strategies.

              

          

Acknowledgement /Appreciation

 

The continued unequivocal support from the 
Minister of Arts and Culture, Council, CEO, 
management and staff has been remarkable. This 
support has made it possible for the Council to 
achieve its strategic objectives.

Conclusion

As we look into the next financial year, we will be 
celebrating the 20th anniversary of Freedom Park 
since its inception. In this auspicious 20th 
anniversary, Freedom Park will be celebrating the 
Legacy of our patron in chief, former President 
Nelson Mandela. After serving 27 years in prison, 
he became a proponent for reconciliation. We look 
into intensifying our efforts to contribute towards 
more years of enjoying our democracy and 
freedom.



CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER'S OVERVIEW
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During the year under review, Freedom Park 
achieved 85% of its set targets, which is a 
milestone in that it is an improvement from the 
previous year. The shortfall, which is a small 
margin, was the result of amongst others, a week 
closure of Freedom Park in December 2019 due to 
the Salvokop community strike that posed a 
danger to both staff and visitors, therefore 
impacting on the achievement of feet through the 
gate target, which we missed by a small margin. 
Covid-19 also impacted the fourth quarter's 
activities as visitors were already cautious of the 
Pandemic.

Freedom Park continued in the  celebration of 
heroes and heroines who fought for our hard- 
earned democracy and freedom. This was done 
through various projects as outlined in our Annual 
Performance report. To date, approximately 139 
895 names have been inscribed on the Wall of 
Names in commemoration of these heroes and 
heroines. In addition, the installation of temporary 
exhibitions, acquisitions of books and archival 
materials, as well as their processing, digitization, 
storage and accessibility to the public were carried 
out successfully. An example of such success is 
the highly acclaimed exhibition, titled “Memory, 
Truth and Justice: Human Rights in Argentina” 
which was hosted in partnership with the Embassy 
of Argentina.

The exhibition showcased atrocities in Argentinian 
history and the role of the Human Rights 
Commission in sharp contrast with the crimes 
committed during Apartheid period and the role of 
the Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) in 
uncovering such truth in South Africa. We also 
launched the Ahmed Timol Exhibition, a powerful 
celebration of the life and legacy of an anti- 
apartheid activist whose life was brutally cut short, 
allegedly at the hands of the repressive regime. 

Freedom  Park  yet  again  achieved  a  3  Star 
grading after an independent assessment by the 
Tourism Grading Council of South Africa with a 
satisfactory report on infrastructure, maintenance 
and operations.
 
Public awareness was boosted significantly 
through the media channels during the year under 
review. Freedom Park received several high-
profile local and foreign visitors including trade 
delegations, politicians, ambassadors and 
activists. Schools and learners contributed to the 
large number of visitors than other sectors.
 

 
As part of its empowerment drive, Freedom Park 
spent 40,2% % of its budget on women projects 
and 0.2%% of its total procurement on youth in 
order to contribute to socio-economic imperatives.

Strategic Overview

 
Of the total workforce in Freedom Park, both 
female (53%) and males (47%) are well  
represented in the different occupational levels. 
The senior management occupation level has 
more females (83%), meeting and exceeding 
employment equity compliance. While the 
financial situation constrained the training and 
development function, the organisation provided 
in house training for staff and job training for at 
least 19 university students as part of their work- 
integrated learning programme, and two Skills 
SETA level work learners.

Risk Management

Most of the strategic risks were effectively 
mitigated in the year under review. Risk policies 
were also effectively implemented. Only 28% of 
the risks were outstanding at the close of the 
financial year, and a decision was taken to carry 
them over to the next financial year. There were, 
however, emerging risks on labour unrest, 
whereby several unauthorised UNION gatherings 
disrupted business.
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The Enterprise Risk Management, in the year 
under review, included an internal audit on the 
adequacy of the control system. This necessitated 
a review of the Strategic Risk assessment, which 
also addressed Fraud and Operational risks. The 
process assisted in managing the adequacy and 
effectiveness in providing the assurance that the 
business objectives are aligned and achieved. An 
ICT strategy was also finalised in this year, and we 
are looking forward to capacitating ICT personnel 
in the next financial year to strengthen systems.

 
Freedom Park prioritizes employee and visitor 
safety at all times. The implementation of the 
Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Policy is 
indicative of the organization's commitment to 
safety and security.

At the end of 2018/2019  year  end, the  Entity 
recovered from its three years' consistent deficit, 
this being the result of the implementation of the 
turn-around strategy. The reported deficit was 
mainly due to the fact that there has been a 
reduction in grant revenue in the past five years as 
well as an increase in expenditure due to 
depreciation, impairment losses on the disposal of 
assets as well as employee costs. Our cost 

containment exercise continued in  this financial  
year  as a  measure  for  financial  prudence. Most 
programmes were implemented by leveraging on 
partnerships with government departments, as 
well as foundations and NGOs. Procurement 
systems and processes were strengthened to 
comply with treasury regulations and to derive 
benefits of services procured. Turnaround times 
were shortened on procurement for efficient 
administration, which resulted in a reduction in 
wasteful and fruitless expenditure. During 2019/20 
the Entity incurred a deficit of R283 million as a 
result of the operating lease straight-lining over 99 
years for the land. Due to the term of the operating 
lease, the operating lease liability of R4.6 billion 

In an effort towards achieving clean audit results, 
86% of internal audit findings were addressed 
during the year. Only a small number of outcomes 
are still in the process of finalization. This is 
tremendous progress compared to the previous 
financial year.

 

Governance

The heritage and tourism sector is one of the 
hardest hit by Covid-19 pandemic and faces 
severe socio-economic impact due to the closing 
of the cultural and heritage spaces and the 
cancellation of numerous socio-cultural events. 
The OHS plan was also developed to respond to 
the outbreak on Covid-19 pandemic, and it is in 
line with the Disaster Management Act and all 
regulations of the lockdown as declared by the 
government prior to the financial year-end. The 
plan will be implemented in the next financial year.

Financial Management
       

(R4.4 billion in 2019) was recognized in the 
statement of financial position to ensure 
compliance with GRAP 13. The adjustments were 
implemented retrospectively affecting the opening 
balances, in prior years the Entity was deviating 
from the GRAP 13.  

Council, as the Accounting Authority, provided 
leadership, oversight and accountability. This was 
done through its established governance 
structures. The review of policies and models to 
tighten the loopholes in the running of the 
organisation have been implemented. The 
organisation has a total of 71 policies that are 
approved by Council. These policies comply with 
the Compl iance Checkl ist  Model  of  the 
Compliance Policy.
   

Internal control systems were introduced to 
provide management and council with comfort 
regarding the financial position of Freedom Park, 
safeguarding the assets (including information) 
and compliance with related laws and regulations.

 

Freedom Park also has a zero-tolerance to fraud 
and corruption. To this end, the Council has a 
Fraud Prevention Policy and Plan, which has been 
implemented, and staff members were made 
aware of the policy.  
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Ms J Mufamadi
Chief Executive Officer Freedom Park

Acknowledgement/appreciation

We have also developed a five-year strategic plan 
to align with the new government administration as 
well as new government priorities as outlined by 
the National  Development  Plan .   

 

 

 

Despite budgetary constraints, the organisation 
has fulfilled its mandate of honoring our heroes 
and heroines. Next financial year, Freedom Park 
will celebrate the 20th anniversary of its existence 
and honoring our heroes and heroines. We will 
ce lebra te  by  look ing back  a t  bo th  our 
achievements and challenges over the years. By 
so doing, we will be reflecting on the past in order 
to address the present challenges as well as 
imaging the future as a united nation. We will also 
put plans in place to continue our journey of 
preserving the resistance and l iberation 
movements' legacy. As we celebrate these 
achievements, there is a line-up of events and 
programmes in 2020/2021 to mark the milestone. 
Amongst others, we will install a permanent 
exhibition in the Gallery of Leaders to honor 
outstanding national, continental and international 
leaders who made greater contributions in the 
areas of humanity and freedom.

 

Efforts to direct Freedom Park to this level wouldn't 
have been possible had it not been for the 
outstanding leadership of my Council, led by its 
Chairperson, Mr Ronnie Makopo, support from our 
Minister of Arts and Culture - Mr Nathi Mthethwa, 
the Freedom Park staff, and numerous Freedom 
Park stakeholders, partners  as well as including  
ordinary members of the public.

Outlook /plans for Future Financial 
Challenges

We have revised our turn-around strategy to 
maximise revenue and cost containment. The next 
term, offers Freedom Park an opportunity to align 
with new developments in the country, especially 
the 4th industrial revolution on technological 
developments. These developments will see the 
entity introducing online bookings, improving 
virtual tours as well as Customer Relations 
Management systems aimed at enhancing 
Customer -  or iented Experience. These 
developments will allow structural alignment.
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The Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with the guidelines issued by The 
National Treasury.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the 
preparation of the Public Entity's Annual Financial 
Statements (AFS) and the judgements made in 
this information. 

The Accounting Authority is responsible for 
establishing and implementing a system of 
internal control designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the 
Annual Financial Statements.

The External Auditors are engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the AFS of the Public 
Entity. The Annual Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2020 have been audited by 
the External Auditors and their report is presented 
on page 79.

The Annual Financial Statements of the Public 
Entity set out from pages have  86 to page 125 
been approved on 30 September 2020. 

In our opinion, the Financial Statements fairly 
reflect the operations of the Public Entity for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2020.

Chairperson Freedom Park
Mr MCR Makopo

Chief Executive Officer Freedom Park
Ms J Mufamadi

AND CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

Yours faithfully
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For to be free is not merely 
to cast off one's chains, 
but to live in a way that 

respects and enhances the 
Freedom of others.

‘Nelson Mandela’ 



Ÿ To establish mechanisms to promote, protect 
and preserve Indigenous Knowledge Systems 
(IKS).

Ÿ To create a conducive environment to attract, 
engage and retain effective and knowledgeable 
talent, as measured by industry standards.

Ÿ To manage Freedom Park as a customer-
focused, financially, sustainable cultural 
institution.

Ÿ To contribute to social cohesion by positioning 
Freedom Park as a symbol of national identity.

Ÿ To mobilise active partnerships with national, 
continental and international institutions to 
emancipate the African voice.

STRATEGIC 
OVERVIEW
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STRATEGIC GOALS

VISION

To be a leading national 
and international icon of 
humanity and freedom.

MISSION

and peoples. 

To provide a pioneering and 
empowering heritage destination 

in order to mobilise for reconciliation 
and nation building in our country; to 
reflect upon our past, improving our 
present and building our future as a 

united nation; and to contribute 
continentally and internationally to the 

formation of better human 
understanding among nations 

VALUES

In carrying out its mandate, 
Freedom Park is committed 
to the following values:

Ÿ Tolerance of diversity

Ÿ Inclusivity

Ÿ Trust

Ÿ Transparency

Ÿ Accountability
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LEGISLATIONS AND
OTHER MANDATES

Ÿ  National Heritage Resources Act, 25 of 1999

Ÿ  Cultural Institutions Act, 119 of 1998 
(effective from 01 April 2009)

FREEDOM PARK IS A SCHEDULE 3A PUBLIC 
ENTITY IN TERMS OF THE PUBLIC FINANCE 
MANAGEMENT ACT (PFMA)

Freedom Park is governed by inter alia the 
following legal framework:

Ÿ  National Treasury Regulations

Ÿ  Public Finance Management Act, 1 of 1999

Ÿ  Public Audit Act, 25 of 2004

The mandate of Freedom Park is the creation of a 
memorial and monument that will narrate a story 
spanning a period of 3.6 billion years through the 
following seven epochs: Earth, Ancestors, 
Peop l i ng ,  Res i s tance  &  Co lon i sa t i on , 
Industrialisation & Urbanisation, Nationalism & 
Struggle, Nation Building & Continent Building; as 
well as the Garden of Remembrance to 
acknowledge those who contributed to the 
freedom of the country.

Ÿ  National Development Plan Vision 2030, 
Chapter 14 (Social Cohesion)

The constitutional mandate relevant to 
Freedom Park includes:

Ÿ  The Constitution of the Republic of South 
Africa, 108 of 1996

        

         

     

      

  and the role of traditional leaders

   Parliament as the supreme 

Chapter 12: Alignment with the recognition 

Chapter 9:  Schedule 3A Public Entity

Chapter 10: Adhere to fundamental values     
and principles governing public 

  Regulations

  administration

Chapter 1:  Human dignity, citizenship,  

Chapter 4:  Compliance and adherence to

Chapter 13:  Compliance with Treasury 

  authority

     

  

Chapter 2:  The Bill of Rights

  national anthem, ag and 
  languages

19
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Officer
(Staff x 18)

Chief Financial Company 
Secretary
(Staff x 3)

Departmental 

(Staff x 23)
& Knowledge
Head Heritage Head Public 

Participation

Departmental 

(Staff x 18)

Head Park 
Operations
(Staff x 32)

Departmental 

Head Human
Resources

Departmental 

(Staff x 5)

ORGANISATIONAL 
STRUCTURE

(Total Staff: 108)

Officer
Chief Executive 

(Staff x 9 )
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This collage of pictures highlights some of the activities held in the year under review, such as  the collection of Radio 
Freedom Equipment in Madagascar; Dialogue with community members; The National Pres Club News Maker of the Year 

Award and formal meetings. 



PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION 

PART B

22
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“The fight for  Freedom
must go on until it is won; 

until our country is free 
and happy and peaceful as 
part of the community of 

man, we cannot rest"

‘Oliver Tambo’ 
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SITUATIONAL
ANALYSIS
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Freedom Park, a National Heritage Destination, 
was established with a mandate to honor those 
who died in the struggle for freedom and humanity 
and to foster reconciliation, social cohesion and 
nation-building in the country. This is better 
reflected in its memorialisation of about 139 895 
heroes and heroines who perished in the eight 
conflicts that shaped the South Africa we have 
today. Those conflicts include pre-colonial Wars, 
Wars of resistance, Genocides, Slavery, First and 
Second World Wars, South African War and the 
Liberation struggle. The Entity is established in 
terms of Heritage Resources Act No. 25 of 1999 
and Cultural Institutions Act No. 119 of 1998 
effective from 1st April 2009. It is an Agency of the 
National Department of Arts and Culture.

The year 2019/2020, the organisation had 
numerous milestones. The Department of Arts 
and Culture chose Freedom Park, as a temporal 
storage for the Radio Freedom equipment. The 
Holy visit by His Grace, Bishop Engenas 
Lekganyane of the St Engenas ZCC, was 
indicative, that the Entity was a spiritual home to 
all, irrespective of their religious background.

“ A day should be not far off when we shall have a 
People's shrine, a Freedom Park, where we shall 
honor with all the dignity they deserve those who 
endured pain so we may experience the joy of 
freedom” (Nelson Mandela: 1999). A year after the 
pronouncement of that statement, Freedom Park 
was established. The compilation of the 2019/ 
2020 Annual Report could not have come at a 
better time when the organisation commemorates 
its 20th anniversary.

The hosting of the International Human Rights 
Day Commemoration with the Embassy of 
Argentina was a watershed moment for the Entity, 
in  terms of  in ternat ional  sol idar i ty  and 
collaborations. Conducting dialogues on 
International Solidarity matters with His 
Excellency Anthony Mongalo the South African 
Ambassador to Italy; the Presiding Bishop of the 
Methodist Church of Southern Africa on the 
struggle for equality in the ordination for women in 

churches. The Emancipation of the African Voice 
was displayed in the successful hosting of the 7th 
Ungasali International Storytelling festival on the 
7th March 2020.
    

An unprecedented increase in the number of 
learners, in the 20-year history of the Entity, was 
recorded. The revenue raised through admission 
through the gate was at R1 390 553; an increase 
from R1 349 507. Paying visitors increased 
consistently over the past three years. These 
achievements are attributable to the newly 
introduced paying visitor model and mainly due to 
stakeholder management relations. Council's 
commitment to the capacitation of vacant 
positions of crucial positions was demonstrated 
when Information Technology and Finance 
Manager Positions were filled. Council was 
proactive in advocating and reinvigorating 
collaborations, stakeholder relations and 
partnership activations hence, the Entity was able 
t o  r e a c h  a c h i e v e m e n t s  s u c h  a s  t h e 
groundbreaking number of learners and paying 
visitors, to Freedom Park.
   

Labour Relations Environment was a challenge; 
however, mutual understanding between 
stakeholders prevailed. The annual salary review 
was finalised without any undue impact on the 
operations of the organisation.

A continuous decrease in the revenue due to the 
reduction of operating grants received from the 
Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) had a direct 
impact on the profitability of Freedom Park. The 
revenue raised from the venue hire declined in the 
current financial year as a result of Freedom 
Park`s closure in December. However, even with 
t he  dec l i n i ng  revenue ,  F reedom Park 
implemented the turnaround strategy that yielded 
positive results in improving the Park's profitability 
when compared to the previous financial years.

The Heritage and Knowledge Department (H&K) 
lived to its historic mission, that of being the 
dependable backbone on which the trajectory of 
the entire Entity is dependent upon. 
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This was demonstrated through activities such as 
the installation of temporary exhibitions, 
acquisitions of books and archival material that 
are accessible to the public. The installation and 
opening of the internationally acclaimed Ahmed 
Timol Mobile Exhibition was a demonstration of 
the organisation's mandate, in terms of honoring 
those who sacrificed their lives for the liberation of 
our country.

H&K Department strives to make Freedom Park a 
knowledge hub, and this was evident in various 
ways, such as the dissemination of knowledge 
through writing, presentation of research papers in 
conferences, and publication of peer-reviewed 
opinion pieces, articles, chapters and books. 
The`Entity is anticipating the production of 
scholarly chapters for compilation into a book 
entitled “Freedom Park: Memory as a Force for 
Radical Transformation”, to be published in 
collaboration with UNISA Press.

Media stakeholder relations were immensely 
attracted from the community, regional and 
national media on both print and electronic. The 
National Press Club hosted the Newsmaker of the 
Year Annual Award at Freedom Park, in which the 
recipient was the current state President Cyril 
Ramaphosa. In terms of positioning Freedom 
Park to the nation, strategic channels of 
advertising were consistently used such as Hola 
Magazine; that has a print run of almost 90,000 
(10,000 per province) and; SANRAL's By The Way 
magazine that is distributed at all national tall 
gates, across the country. An impressive increase 
in social media posting and followers as compared 
to the previous year was realised, and so was the 
case with website visits.
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PROGRAMME 1 - Administration
PURPOSE

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Efficient financial and non-financial reporting
Strategic Objective 1.1.1

Increase 
income base 
per annum R366 800 in 

kind 
sponsorships 
were raised

Not achieved Partially 
achieved

An amount 
of R3 million 
was raised.

No funds 
were raised.

Not achieved An 
amount of 
R3.1 
million 
raised 
annually

Not 
achieved

No funds 
were raised.

Difference of 
R3.1 million 
from the 
planned 
target.

Non-
performance 
by service 
provider.  
The 
appointment 
of a new 
panel of 
service 
providers for 
fundraising 
is on the 
procurement 
plan for 
2020/21.

Sub-Programme 1.1:   Entity Management
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The goal of growing the “Golden Mzansi” economy 
by the Department of Arts and Culture, amongst 
others is to quantify the contribution of the heritage 
sector towards the GDP of the country. It is the 
initiative of Freedom Park to promote and protect 
IKS knowledge and objects for posterity and through 
the rightful patent of such.

The Administration Programme provides leadership, 
strategic management and administrative support to 
the Freedom Park to ensure a sustainable and 
financially viable institution which can be utilised 
optimally to deliver on its mandate.
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In the year under review, the organisation 
embarked on a project to develop a new ICT 
strategy. The ICT strategy plan represents an 
important step towards the planning of ICT 
resources and the transformation of the vision and 
goals of Freedom Park to meet the core business 
objectives and directing the public services and to 
derive value on the supported ICT services and 
support.

Ÿ Assist the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Executive Team to understand better the 
complexity of using and managing  information 
and technology within the organisation.

Ÿ Encourage the organisation to improve its ICT 
capability.

The nature of the Freedom Park business 
operations requires the effective management of 
information and technology to ensure ICT systems 
are controlled and maintained in line with 
corporate objectives and emerging trends.

Ÿ Enable the organisation to operate at or above 
the ICT Baseline Standard.

Ÿ Ensure ICT is adequately managed to support 
all aspects of Freedom Park, and 

The increasing complexity of ICT solutions, their 
rapid evolution, and the need to be agile in 
responding to organisational and customer needs 
and to partnership opportunities that reduce cost, 
increase resilience and improve quality requires a 
less traditional approach to ICT strategy moving 
forward. Reliance on ICT infrastructure and 
solutions to support an agile and flexible working 
culture is a significant part of the transformation 
brought forth by the Covid-19. 

ICT Strategy 

Ÿ Support all related elements of an integrated 
planning and reporting requirements.

      

The ICT Strategy is a tool designed to:

Asset Management 

During the current financial year, Freedom Park 
conducted a Conditional assessment for the 
infrastructure and developed a ten-year 
preventative maintenance plan. The preventive 
maintenance plan is supported and funded by the 
Department of Arts and Culture. The maintenance 
of the assets will enhance the productive life and 
reduce critical equipment breakdown.

During the current financial year, the Entity also 
received approval to reprioritise the Deferred 
Income to implement the capital projects. The 
lockdown delayed the implementation of these 
projects. Freedom Park expects to see even more 
significant proportional investment in the future 
through the implementation of the ICT strategy, as 
we seek competitive advantage by keeping pace 
with technological evolution and continuing to 
deliver service quality.

Contract Management
      

Freedom Park has the added responsibility of 
addressing its socio-economic responsibility to 
empower and capacitate/provide opportunities to 
previously disadvantaged individuals and 
SMMEs. Freedom Park has a strategic outcome 
focused on targeted procurement initiatives 
addressing the empowerment of businesses 
owned by women, youth and people with 
disabil it ies. During the current year, the 
procurement imperatives were 40,2% toward 
women and 0.2% to youth. 46.1% of the 
procurement was allocated to level 1 and 2 BEE 
companies. 

Through effective business intelligence, Freedom 
Park will improve the information available to 

employees and the public ensuring that it is of high 
quality, up-to-date, complete, presented in an 
appropriate format, and is available at any time 
and any place, creating transparency. 

      



28

2019/2020 

PROGRAMME 
PERFORMANCE REPORT

Fundraising initiatives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment 
on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 1.2.1
Functionality of the elements at the Park

Number of 
preventative 
and reactive 
maintenance 
reports per 
annum 

Quarterly 
reports on 
internal 
repairs and 
recommenda
tions on 
future 
maintenance 
projects 
were 
submitted to 
MANCO.

 
Achieved

Quarterly 
reports on 
implementati
on of internal 
repairs and 
maintenance 
projects 
were 
submitted to 
MANCO..

Achieved
 

Achieved

Quarterly 
reports on 
implementati
on of internal 
repairs and 
maintenance 
projects 
were 
submitted to 
MANCO.

 
Quarterly 
reports on 
implementati
on of 
internal 
repairs and 
maintenance 
projects 
submitted.

Achieved

Quarterly 
reports on 
implementati
on of internal 
repairs and 
maintenance 
projects 
were 
submitted.

 
- -

Sub-Programme 1.2:   Building, Renovation and Urban Planning
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Freedom Park continues to harness the power of 
partnerships and collaborative efforts with the 
corporate sector and foundations, strengthening 
its engagement through 'priority integrated 
partnerships' – multifaceted relationships with 
companies that have been identified as 
instrumental for Freedom Park to implement the 
next Strategic Plan for 2020–2023. 

Freedom Park has also begun a new cycle of 
fundraising strategy development. It will be an 
extended process that allows us to thoroughly 
evaluate our ideas and assumptions and make 
strategic choices within the context of the current 
technological and charitable landscapes. It will 
also be iterative and flexible, allowing us to 
respond to changes in the environment 
appropriately.
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PARK OPERATIONS
      

SECURITY MANAGEMENT

COMMERCIAL SERVICES

The purpose of the Park Operations department is 
mainly two-fold, namely to ensure that Freedom 
Park's facilities are always in a functional state and 
this is done by embarking on a proactive, reactive 
and statutory maintenance. Secondly, Park 
operations seek to bring about a safe and secure 
environment for both employees and visitors 
through the deployment of physical Security 
G u a r d s  i n  t h e  P a r k  a n d  t h r o u g h  t h e 
implementation of the Occupational Health and 
Safety legislative principles which sets out a 
process for the identification and addressing of 
unsafe acts and unsafe conditions.  

PREVENTATIVE  AND REACTIVE

        Park Operations is responsible for one target in 
the 2019/20 financial year viz implementation of 
internal repairs and maintenance. This target 
looks at the number of preventative and reactive 
maintenance issues per annum.

A process to conduct a condition assessment to 
determine the preventative maintenance plan in 
the medium to long term was concluded in June 
2019. A 10-year Preventative maintenance plan 
was developed following the assessment. This 
was approved by Council and considered by the 
Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) in July 
2019. 

Freedom Park manages and secures property 
and equipment with a cost of approximately R700 
million. In addition, Park Operations manages the 
commercial services such as the restaurant and 
gift shop contracts. 

Freedom Park has awarded a new landscape 
contract for a period of three years. This serves as 
part of preventative maintenance and upkeep of 
the Park to an acceptable standard.

Freedom Park further received approval from 
DAC in November 2019, to utilise its deferred 
infrastructure funds for immediate infrastructure 
replacements as per the condition assessment. All 
project business plans were completed, and the 
process for implementation is underway.

     

Freedom Park continues to participate in the 
Salvokop master re-development committee 
which is spearheaded by the National Department 
of Public Works for the new development master 
plan around Salvokop and Pretoria CBD. The Park 
Operations department also played a significant 
role in the Salvokop community development 
forum where issues that affect the community are 
discussed and escalated to relevant government 
and municipal authorities. In 2019, Freedom Park 
exper ienced st r ikes f rom the Salvokop 
community, who demanded jobs, through a 
recently appointed security service provider. The 
strikes forced Freedom Park to close for a week in 
December 2019, therefore resulting in loss of 
admission revenue. An interdict was subsequently 
sought and approved by the court, permanently in 
March 2020.

 MAINTENANCE

Freedom Park appointed Dandozest in May 2018 
to operate its restaurant services. Ditebogo Gifts 
was also appointed in November 2018 to operate 
the gift shop. These services add to the visitor's 
flow and overall experience at Freedom Park. 
Financial year under review, approximately 
R108 398 has been acquired as part of revenue 
generation from the two retail services. 

R11 044 352 as compared to the previous service 
provider. The service standards of performance 
will be assessed quarterly to ensure that the 
service provider is performing in terms of the SLA. 
The CCTV cameras were also upgraded and are 
now in a working condition. 

    

Freedom Park has awarded a new physical 
security contract for three years. Through this 
contract, Freedom Park made a saving of 



The security unit ensured that security awareness 
was presented to staff to remind them about 
security and health and safety issues to promote a 
collective responsibility to safeguarding and 
protecting the Freedom Park assets.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Health and Safety policy was reviewed and 
approved by the Council in 2019. Freedom Park 
ensured that the Health and Safety Policy is 
complied with. All findings that were identified by 
the internal audit in the 2017/18 financial year 
were resolved.

   

By the end of the financial year, Covid-19 has 
presented a new challenge and risk with regards 
to Occupational Health and Safety. In response, 
sanitizers, gloves and masks were procured and 
distributed to Security Officers at the entrances 
and also in the bathroom facilities and offices. 
Security and OHS awareness was done.

A maintenance contract and plan are in place for a 
two-year period to provide maintenance for the 
cameras.
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PROGRAMME 2 - Business Development
PURPOSE

Sub-Programme 2.1:   Documentation and Digitization

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 2.1.1
Effective public interface

Number of 
materials 
digitised per 
annum.

The 
digitisation 
system was 
installed in 
October 
2016; 
training was 
completed 
and the 
system was 
operational 
by 31 March 
2017.

Achieved Achieved

838 
materials 
were 
digitised.

Achieved

776 
materials 
were 
digitised.

Achieved

100 
materials 
digitised 
per 
annum

480 
materials 
were 
digitised.

Achieved Target 
exceeded by 
380 
materials.

There were 
more events 
and 
activities 
related to 
the mission 
and vision of 
FP than 
expected, 
and the 
number of 
unexpected 
events 
added to the 
planned 
events such 
as 
dialogues, 
exhibitions, 
etc.   
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Freedom Park is an icon of humanity and freedom 
which seeks to position itself as a symbol of 
national identity. In pursuance of its vision, the 
architecture reflects the African identity. The 
exhibitions in //hapo further reflect what binds 
humanity.  It also educates the visitor as it narrates 
the story from creation to achievement of 
democracy and how we contribute to nation and 
continent building.
 

Freedom Park sees its role to establish 
mechanisms to preserve and promote IKS as an 
initiative that gives it its uniqueness. Therefore, 
our different programmes and activities are aimed 
at achieving this mandate.
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Sub-Programme 2.2:   Collection and Accessioning

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 2.2.1
Create user friendly access to the archiving and collection knowledgebase

Number of 
archival 
collections 
related to the 
7 epochs of 
the exhibition 
acquired per 
annum.

7 collections 
were 
acquired.

Achieved Achieved

11 
collections 
were 
acquired.

Achieved

11 
collections 
were 
acquired.

5 archival 
collections 
acquired 
per annum.

5 collections 
were 
acquired.

Achieved - -

Number of 
archival 
documents 
and materials 
related to the 
7 epochs of 
the exhibition 
processed 
according to 
archival 
standards 
per annum.

Achieved

1 212 
materials 
were 
processed.

2 147 
materials 
were 
processed.

Achieved Achieved

1 123 
materials 
were 
processed.

1 000 
archival 
documents 
and 
materials 
related to 
the 7 
epochs of 
the 
exhibition 
processed 
according 
to archival 
standards 
per annum.

938 
materials 
were 
processed.

Partially 
achieved

Difference of 
62 materials 
from the 
planned 
target.

Entries in the 
Vernon 
database were 
duplicated 
which resulted 
in 
miscalculation.  
The database 
has been 
upgraded in 
the meantime. 

Number of 
library books 
relevant to 
the storyline 
acquired per 
annum.

64 books 
were 
acquired.

Achieved

89 books 
were 
acquired.

Achieved Not 
achieved

Books were 
not acquired 
during the 
financial 
year.

30 books 
relevant to 
the 
storyline 
acquired 
per annum 

60 books 
were 
acquired.

Achieved Target 
exceeded by 
30 books.

More books 
were identified 
by end-users. 
The additional 
books were 
also bought to 
cover the 
identified gap 
(lack of 
reliable and 
valid 
information 
sources) in the 
museum 
storyline.
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Sub-Programme 2.3:   Research and Knowledge Production

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievem
ent 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 2.3.1
Integrate the natural and cultural landscape for contemplation, reflection and reconciliation

Number of 
names 
across the 8 
conflict areas 
verified and 
validated for 
inscription 
per annum.

228 names 
were verified 
and 
validated.

Achieved Achieved

228 names 
were verified 
and 
validated.

Achieved

135 names 
were verified 
and 
validated.

100 names 
across the 
8 conflict 
areas 
verified and 
validated by 
the Names 
Verification 
Committee 
for 
inscription.

Achieved

125 
names 
were 
verified 
and 
validated.

Target 
exceeded by 
25 names 
verified and 
validated.

More names on 
the Liberation 
Struggle were 
verified and 
validated for 
inscription as a 
result of 
additional 
names 
received from 
the Department 
of Military 
Veterans 
(DMV).

Number of 
names 
inscribed on 
the Wall of 
Names 
across the 8 
conflict 
areas.

N/A N/A Achieved

459 names 
were 
inscribed on 
the Wall of 
Names.

100 names 
across the 
8 conflict 
areas 
inscribed on 
the Wall of 
Names.

Achieved

200 
names 
were 
inscribed.

Target 
exceeded by 
100 names 
inscribed.

Researchers 
collected more 
names than the 
inscription 
target.  It would 
have been a 
wasteful 
expenditure for 
Freedom Park 
to appoint a 
service 
provider to 
inscribe only 
100 names 
when there was 
a bigger batch 
of names, 
which could be 
inscribed at 
once.
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Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 2.3.2
Integrate history, culture and spirituality in a manner that will portray a national identity

Number of 
completed 
research 
papers that 
integrate 
history, 
culture and 
spirituality 
per annum.

11 research 
papers were 
completed.

Achieved

7 research 
papers were 
completed.

Achieved Achieved

7 research 
papers were 
completed.

4 research 
papers 
completed. 5 research 

papers were 
completed.

Achieved Target 
exceeded by 
1 research 
paper.

An additional 
paper was 
written as a 
response to a 
conference 
call for papers 
by one of FP's 
partners, 
namely 
University of 
Venda.

Number of 
research 
articles 
accepted for 
publication 
that integrate 
history, 
culture and 
spirituality 
per annum.

Achieved

3 research 
articles on 
GOR were 
published.

3 research 
articles on 
GOR were 
published.

Achieved Achieved

2 research 
articles 
were 
accepted for 
publication.

2 research 
papers 
accepted for 
publication.  

2 research 
articles were 
accepted for 
publication.

Achieved - -

Continuously educate visitors about cultural, historical and spiritual issues focusing on the national, continental 
and international world

Strategic Objective 2.3.3

Number of 
temporary 
exhibitions 
per annum.

Achieved

2 temporary 
exhibitions 
were 
developed 
and 
displayed at 
Freedom 
Park.

5 temporary 
exhibitions 
were 
displayed.

Achieved

3 temporary 
exhibitions 
were 
displayed 
(of which 
one was on 
Nelson 
Mandela in 
Q2).

Achieved 2 temporary 
exhibitions 
developed 
and 
displayed.

Achieved

3 temporary 
exhibitions 
were 
displayed.

Target 
exceeded by 
1 temporary 
exhibition.

An additional 
exhibition 
partnership 
proposal 
relevant to 
issues of 
redress and 
reparation for 
injustices of 
the past was 
received, 
which could 
not be 
declined.  
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Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Number of 
opinion 
pieces 
published 
per annum.

Achieved

10 opinion 
pieces were 
published. 

Achieved

9 opinion 
pieces were 
published.

8 opinion 
pieces were 
published.

Achieved 6 opinion 
pieces 
published. 10 opinion 

pieces were 
published.

Achieved Target 
exceeded by 
4 published 
opinion 
pieces.

Extra opinion 
pieces were 
published as a 
measure to 
close the 
identified gap 
of articles on 
//hapo 
(museum) 
interactive 
terminals.

Strategic Objective 2.3.4
Portray the history of Southern Africa and Africa going back 3.6 billion years

Annual 
storytelling 
festival.

Achieved

1 
Storytelling 
Festival was 
conducted 
and in 
addition 
there was 
an outreach 
storytelling 
programme 
with 
Rivoningo 
Care Centre 
in Pretoria.   

1 storytelling 
festival was 
conducted.

Achieved Achieved

1 
storytelling 
festival was 
conducted.

1 
storytelling 
festival 
conducted.

Achieved

1 storytelling 
festival was 
conducted.

- -

Number of 
seminars or 
conferences 
or public 
lectures or 
workshops 
conducted 
per annum.

4 seminars 
were 
conducted.

Achieved

4 seminars 
were 
conducted.

Achieved Achieved

3 
conferences 
were 
conducted 
(of which 
one was on 
Nelson 
Mandela in 
Q3).

2 seminars 
or  
conference
s or public 
lectures or 
workshops 
conducted.

Achieved

1 seminar 
and 1 public 
lecture were 
conducted.

- -
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Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Number of 
dialogues 
(oral 
interviews) 
conducted 
per annum.

14 dialogues 
were 
conducted.

7 dialogues 
were 
conducted, of 
which one 
was with Ms 
Luli Callinicos 
who is the 
author of a 
series of 
books on OR 
Tambo.

Partially 
achieved

Achieved

8 dialogues 
were 
conducted 
(of which 
one was on 
Nelson 
Mandela in 
Q3).

6 dialogues 
(oral 
interviews) 
conducted.

Achieved

6 dialogues 
were 
conducted.

- -

Number of 
dialogues 
quality 
assured per 
annum.

N/A. Achieved

6 dialogues 
were 
assessed.

Achieved

6 dialogues 
were 
assessed.

Quality 
assurance 
of 5 
dialogues 
completed. 

6 dialogues 
were quality 
assured.

Achieved Target 
exceeded by 
1 dialogue.

A dialogue 
conducted in 
the past was 
assessed in 
the period 
under 
review.

Strategic Objective 2.3.5
Ensure that FP remains relevant to its role within the national priorities by using IKS platforms

Number of 
Interfaith 
Committee 
programmes 
executed 
per annum.

4 Interfaith 
Committee 
programmes 
were 
executed.

Achieved

3 Interfaith 
Committee 
programmes 
were 
executed.

Achieved Achieved

2 Interfaith 
Committee 
programmes 
were 
executed.

2 Interfaith 
Committee 
programme
s executed.

Achieved

2 Interfaith 
Committee 
programme
s were 
executed.

- -
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Sub-Programme 2.4:   Educational Programmes and Activities

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from 
planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 
2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 2.4.1
Mobilise educational institutions to educate learners to engender social cohesion

Number of 
participants 
(women and 
youth) 
engaged in 
presentations 
of education 
programmes 
conducted 
per annum.

Achieved

16 369 
participants 
were 
engaged in 
educational 
activities.

Achieved

7 973 
participants 
were 
engaged in 
educational 
activities.

Achieved

21 470 
participants 
were 
engaged in 
educational 
activities.

4 000 
participants 
(women and 
youth) 
engaged in 
presentations 
of education 
programmes 
conducted.

Achieved

9 683 
participants 
(women and 
youth) were 
engaged in 
education 
programmes 
conducted.

Target 
exceeded 
by 5 683 
participants.

Intensified 
educational 
outreach 
programme 
and 
partnership 
programmes

Number of 
learners 
engaged in 
presentations 
of education 
programmes 
conducted 
per annum.

Achieved

6 618 
learners 
were 
involved in 
educational 
interactions 
with schools.

7 493 
learners 
were 
involved in 
educational 
interactions 
with 
schools.

Achieved Achieved

20 015 
learners 
were 
involved in 
educational 
interactions 
with 
schools.

2 250 
learners 
engaged in 
presentations 
of education 
programmes 
conducted.

9 455 
learners were 
engaged in 
presentations 
of education 
programmes.

Achieved Target 
exceeded 
by 7 205 
learners.

Intensified 
educational 
outreach 
programme 
and 
partnership 
programmes

Number of 
Time Travel 
events 
conducted 
per annum.

Achieved

7 Time 
Travel 
events were 
conducted.

Achieved

5 Time 
Travel 
events were 
conducted.

14 
education 
programmes 
with other 
organisation 
were 
conducted.

Achieved 2 Time Travel 
events 
conducted.

Partially 
achieved

1 Time Travel 
event was 
conducted.

Difference 
of 1 Time 
Travel event 
from the 
planned 
target.

90% of the 
process to 
prepare for 
another 
event was 
conducted in 
Q4; however 
the school 
was closed 
before the 
event due to 
the Covid-19 
lockdown.
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BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

The Curatorial Unit, which includes the interactive 
museum called //hapo, the living Pan African 
Archives (PAA) and the Library, excelled in terms 
of its installation of temporary exhibitions, 
acquisitions of books and archival materials, as 
well as their processing, digitization, storage and 
accessibility to the public. The installation and 
opening of the high profile Ahmed Timol Mobile 
Exhibition in //hapo, for example, gave the most 
finished expression to the quality of work 
delivered. Ahmed Timol was a freedom fighter who 
contributed significantly to the building of the 
underground movement during the liberation 
struggle. 

This exceptional performance of the department is 
also concretely distinguished by two overlapping 
components of achievement, namely the quality 
and quantity of the work done. It is, however, not 
necessary to give finer and more details of such 
exceptional achievement in terms of figures in this 
section as such detailed statistics appear 
elsewhere in the  Annual Report .

   

Curatorial Unit
  

T h e  i n t e r n a t i o n a l  b e n c h m a r k  o f  a n y 
groundbreaking research is the production and 
dissemination of new knowledge.  Various ways of 
dissemination of knowledge include writing, 
presentation of research papers in conferences, 
and publication of peer-reviewed opinion pieces, 
ar t ic les,  chapters and books for  publ ic 
consumption. This splendid research output 
exceeded expectations in terms of both quantity 
and quality. An excellent case in point is the 
production of scholarly chapters for compilation 
into a book entitled “Freedom Park: Memory as a 
Force for radical Transformation”, to be published     

Research Unit

For the period under review, the Heritage & 
Knowledge (HK) department had a successful 
story of performance to tell.  This excellent story of 
exceptional achievement was equally shared 
across the three Units that make up the 
department, namely Curatorship, Education and 
Research. Not only did the Units achieve their 
annual targets, but also exceeded them, some by 
comfortable margins.

Contrary to the Apartheid police version that he 
committed suicide, he was tortured and killed by 
the police during his detention at the John Vorster 
Square Police Station in Johannesburg on 27 
October 1971. Another highly acclaimed 
exhibition, titled “Memory, Truth and Justice: 
Human Rights in Argentina” was launched in 
partnership with the Embassy of Argentina. The 
exhibition showcases atrocities in Argentinian 
history and the role of the Human Rights 

Commission in sharp contrast with the crimes 
committed during apartheid period and the role of 
the Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) in 
uncovering such truth in South Africa. The third 
exhibition was on the role of the Soviet Union 
during World War II.  Key among the acquisition of 
materials and objects for the Library, PAA and 
hapo was the equipment of Radio Freedom that 
was handed over to Freedom Park by the Republic 
of Madagascar. The equipment was a crucial 
means of underground communication used by 
the African National Congress (ANC) during the 
liberation struggle.

Both Curatorial and Research Units collaborate in 
conducting dialogues with liberation struggle 
stalwarts, the records of which add materially to 
the audio-visual and living nature of the PAA.  
Thus our dialogues contribute in no small measure 
to the burgeoning body of oral history and 
documentation of Resistance and Liberation 
Heritage Route (RLHR) project.  Such dialogues 
included the ones conducted with the Pan 
Africanist Congress (PAC) and Africanist Peoples 
Liberation Army (APLA) cadres like Mr P. Mpush 
Makambi and Major-General Thembelani Xundu, 
as well as Amtiaz Ahmed Cajee, a niece to Ahmed 
Timol.                  
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in collaboration with UNISA  Press. Generally, this 
scholarly work deals mainly with political and 
socio-economic triumphs and challenges 
confronting democratic South Africa.  Specifically, 
the thesis of the book is based on the fact that the 
realization of freedom is not an event achieved 
1994, but a process or an onward march to a better 
tomorrow.

Equally worth mentioning, is a plethora of 
research papers and opinion pieces completed 
and published. The research papers include “The 
Decolon izat ion o f  the Museums” ,  “The 
Subjugation of the African Agenda”, and 
“Opportunities and Challenges: Press Freedom 
25 Years in Post-Apartheid South Africa”. The 
“Opportunities and Challenges” paper was later 
published by the Mapungubwe Institute.  A host of 
published opinion pieces were on 'Samora 
Machel', 'Robert Sobukwe', 'Ahmed Timol', 'Dr 
Neil Aggett', 'Dr Yusuf Dadoo', 'Medicinal Uses of 
Impepho in South Africa', 'The Sacredness of 
Sudwala Caves', 'The Instability in our Townships 
is a Travesty of our Democracy', and 'South 
African Liberation Struggle in Relation to USSR”, 
to mention a few. 

Education Unit

In conclusion, the HK department experienced its 
historic mission, that of being the dependable 
backbone on which the core business and 
exceptional achievement trajectory of the entire 
entity rests.                                                      

Organised seminars, conferences and public 
lectures included those on “Land Dispossession 
and Expropriation without Compensation” and 
“Langa Heritage Legends”.      

Last but not least is the sterling achievement of the 
Education Unit. Such an achievement can be 
summarized merely enough. The unit's on-site 
and off-site presentations of quality-assured 
education programmes to school learners and 
other participants were achieved beyond 
expectations.  The annual storytelling festival and 
performances constitute a flagship programme of 
the entire institution. The festival and related 
performances are Pan-African and Indigenous 
Knowledge System (IKS)-related in character.  
They also provide edutainment to a variety of 
audiences, with school learners as the chief 
beneficiaries. The point here is that the education 
p rog rammes ,  s to r y te l l i ng  f es t i va l  and 
performances not only complement basic 
education and higher education history and 
heritage curricula but also contribute to the 
process of decolonization of the South African 
history and heritage.

Another key feature of achievement by the 
Research Uni t  is  in  terms of  research 
undertakings on names of South African, 
continental and international heroes and heroines 
who contributed to our struggles for freedom and 
humanity. The unit reached and exceeded targets 
for collected, verified and inscribed names, 
thereby contributing exceptionally to Freedom 
Park's primary mandate of 'honoring heroes and 
heroines of the Resistance and Liberation 
Heritage Route. While most of these additional 
names will be honored by way of an inscription on 
the Wall of Names, two names of Patrice 

Lumumba (Congo) and Robert  Mugabe 
(Zimbabwe) will be displayed in the Gallery of 
Leaders. To date, a total of 139 895 heroes and 
heroines have been honored at Freedom Park. 
Most of whom are engraved on the Wall of Names, 
while 44 are in the Gallery of Leaders.  The rolled-
out faith-based programmes of the unit ensured 
the Entity's fulfilment of the government 
imperatives on 'reconciliation, social cohesion and 
nation-building'. One such programme was 
conducted on Reconciliation Day on the 16th of  
December 2019.        
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PROGRAMME 3 - Public Engagement
PURPOSE

Sub-Programme 3.1:   National, Continental and Local Partnerships and Outreach

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

Actual 
Achievement 

Actual 
Achievement 

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 

Deviation 
from planned 

Comment on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 3.1.1
Mobilise institutions through active partnerships with national, continental and local institutions to emancipate the 
African voice

Number of 
outreach 
programmes 
conducted per 
annum.

N/A Achieved

3 provincial 
outreach 
programme 
were 
conducted.

Achieved

8 outreach 
programmes 
were 
conducted.

5 outreach 
programmes 
conducted.

Achieved

5 outreach 
programmes 
were 
conducted.

- -

Sub-Programme 3.2:  Social cohesion, Nation Building and Reconciliation

Advocate for nation-building and social cohesion by servicing major stakeholders
Strategic Objective 3.2.1

Number of 
programmes 
to support 
Social 
Cohesion, 
Nation 
Building and 
Reconciliation

Achieved

6 events for 
national 
holidays 
were held.

Achieved

5 events for 
national 
holidays 
were held.

Achieved

8 
programmes 
were 
conducted.

7 
programmes 
to support 
social 
cohesion, 
Nation 
building and 
Reconciliatio 
per annum.

Achieved

8 
programmes 
were 
conducted.

Target 
exceeded by 
1 outreach 
programme.

Two 
programmes 
were 
collaborations 
in celebration 
of 
Reconciliation 
month.

Ÿ Broad-based knowledge about and support for 
a set of values shared by all South Africans, 

including the values contained in the 
Constitution.

Ÿ Strong leadership across society and a 
mobilised, active and responsible citizenry.

As a contribution to the National Development 
Plan, Freedom Park positions itself as a symbol of 
national unity, by developing programmes and 
activities that increase the consciousness of 
South Africans on their commonalities rather than 
differences. In this regard, the Park contributes 
towards building a citizenry that is more accepting 
of people's multiple identities where there is:

Ÿ An inclusive society that sustain inequality of 
opportunity and outcomes in the economy by 
building capabilities and redressing the wrongs 
of the past.

Ÿ Increased interaction between South Africans 
from different social and racial groups.
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Sub-Programme 3.3:  Conventional/digital Marketing, 
                                    Communication and Public Relations

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2016/2017

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Target 
2019/2020

Actual 
Achievement 
2019/2020

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
for 2019/2020

Comment on 
deviations

Strategic Objective 3.3.1
Increase visitor numbers

Number of 
visitors 
registered 
per annum.

Partially 
achieved

63 195 
visitors 
registered.

Partially 
achieved

56 697 
visitors 
registered.

Achieved

90 844 
visitors 
registered.

Register 
50 000 
guests and 
visitors.

Partially 
Achieved

47 312 
guests and 
visitors 
registered.

2 688 guests 
and visitors 
from the 
planned 
target.

Difference of Tours and 
events were 
cancelled in 
Q4 due to 
Coronavirus 
pandemic.

Number of 
paying 
visitors per 
annum.

25 703 
paying 
visitors.

Achieved Partially 
achieved

23 309 
paying 
visitors.

Achieved

26 488 
paying 
visitors.

27 000 
paying 
visitors.

Achieved

30 702 
paying 
visitors.

Target 
exceeded by 
3 702 paying 
visitors.

Effective 
implementati
on of the 
paying visitor 
model in Q1 
and Q2.

Number of 
school 
learners 
visiting 
Freedom 
Park per 
annum.

Achieved

14 014 
school 
learners 
visited 
Freedom 
Park.

13 568 
school 
learners 
visited 
Freedom 
Park.

Achieved

15 505 
school 
learners 
visited 
Freedom 
Park.

Achieved 13 000 
school 
learners 
visiting 
Freedom 
Park.

Achieved

21 738 
school 
learners 
visited 
Freedom 
Park.

Target 
exceeded by 
8 738 school 
learners.

Effective 
school 
mobilisation 
programme 
in Q1 and 
Q2.

Number of 
programmes 
to position 
Freedom 
Park as a 
heritage and 
historical 
institution 
conducted 
per annum.

N/A N/A Achieved

8 public 
relations 
and 
marketing 
programme 
were held.

7 public 
relations and 
marketing 
programmes 
implemented

Achieved

9 public 
relations and 
marketing 
programmes 
were 
implemented

Target 
exceeded by 
2 
programmes

Public 
Relations 
and 
Marketing 
programmes 
also support 
the 
commemorat
ion of 
National 
Days. 
Therefore 
there were 
more 
programmes.
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PUBLIC 
ENGAGEMENT PROGRAMME
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Public Participation is a department within 
Freedom Park entrusted with Communication, 
Marketing, Public Relations, Outreach, Guest 
Relations and Events Management functions. In 
supporting the business of Freedom Park, Public 
Participation department was allocated six targets 
on the Annual Performance Plan. Five of the six 
allocated targets were achieved due to robust  
mobilization and marketing.

Public Participation also contributes towards 
revenue generation through admission and venue 

hire fees. During the year events, Management 
and Paying Visitor Models were reviewed in order 
to address the increase in visitors' numbers as well 
as revenue. In 2019/20 financial year, revenue 
raised through admission through the gate was 
R1 320 746, an decrease from R1 349 508 in 
2018/19 whilst revenue raised through venue hire 
was R 439 490 a decrease from R1 556 394 from 
the previous year. Paying visitors have increased 
steadily over the past three years. The 
achievement in this regard is attributed to the 
paying visitors' model.
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The financial year 2019/20 was characterised by 
exciting programmes in Public Relations, 
Outreach, Marketing and Events. The following 
programmes were achieved:

 -School outreach, whereby 192 schools and 
21 738 learners visited Freedom Park; 

-Institutions of Higher Learning, whereby 
57 Institutions and 1 035 students visited 
Freedom Pak; 

1.  5 Outreach programmes viz:

- Yo u t h  o u t r e a c h ,  Yo u t h  C a m p  i n 
collaboration with Robben Island Museum 
was conducted; 

  

-Persons with Disabilities outreach, an 
event in commemorating International 
Disability Day was conducted and 

       

-Community outreach, outreach conducted 
at Langa community honoring legends in 
sports, music and education. The following 
graphs reflect the visitors' numbers and 
school outreach programmes. 

      

There has been a steady increase of learners 
visiting Freedom Park in the past three 
years; however, the overall visitors' numbers 
have been fluctuating.
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Print Media 39%

Broadcast Media 36%

Online Media 25%

-Honoring our Heroes and Heroines in the 
form of Mahatma Gandhi Peace Walk in 
collaboration with Centurion Hindu Society, 
Maha Sabha, and Freedom Park; 

-Media and Market ing campaigns 
honoring heroes and heroines; Public 
Relation collaborations with Press Club 
hosting Newsmaker of the year;

-Veterans Voice Radio broadcasts; 

2 .   9  Publ ic  Relat ion and Market ing 
programmes viz: 

 

-Afr ica Day media and market ing 
partnership with HSRC; 

-Freedom month media and marketing 
campaign, whereby GCIS – community 
channels broadcasting CEO's message on 
Freedom Day, print media with SANRAL;

-Media and Marketing campaign in 
profiling the organisation. Mall exhibition 
with TTA Exhibitions at CSIR-TTA showcase. 
Mayoral Tourism Business Summit. Posting 
at What's on Pretoria platform. ENCA 
interview on Langa Heroes & Heroines 
project. Heritage Literacy on Phalaphala FM. 
VVR interviews, an opinion piece on Human 
Rights Day. Radio interview with Pheli FM. 

3.  Social media posting and followers also 
increased to 9 967 Facebook from 9 271 in 
the previous year. A remarkable achievement 
of 82 836 visits on the website was recorded, 
an increase from 74 036. All these activities 
have seen a positive coverage on value-
added with all media.

4.  Six programmes supporting Social 
C o h e s i o n ,  N a t i o n  B u i l d i n g  a n d 
Reconciliation viz: Freedom Day: Radio 
Freedom Handover; Africa Day in partnership 
with HRSC; Youth Day in partnership with 
Thabo Mbeki Foundation; Women's Day in 
partnership with Dandozest; Heritage Day, 
Family day at Freedom Park; Reconciliation 
Day, Mandela Walk, Pan African Cultural 
Experience and Interfaith prayer and 
Dialogue on 16 December.

 

-Media and Marketing campaign to 
celebrate Reconciliation month; public 
lecture in collaboration with the Embassy of 
Argentina; 
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Sentiment 
Breakdown

Media Coverage Count Ave PR Value Percentage

Positive 174 R 13 401 749.00 R 40 205 247.00 67.18%

Neutral 60 R 4 853 411.00 R 14 560 233.00 23.17%

Negative 25 R 1 563 410.00 R 4 690 230.00 9.65%

Total 259 R 19 818 570.00 R 59 455 710.00 100%

Media Coverage Count Ave PR Value Percentage

Online Media 83 R 4 917 031.00 R 14 751 093.00 24.81%

Print Media 115 R 7 648 993.00 R 22 946 979.00 38.60%

Broadcast Media 61 R 7 252 546.00 R 21 757 638.00 36.59%

Total 259 R 19 818 570.00 R 59 455 710.00 100%

The following graph reflects media coverage resulting from media and marketing 
campaigns.

 AVE
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Freedom Park, received several high profile guests in 2019/2020 

Ÿ  of the Russian Federation in South Ambassador II Rogachev
Africa for wreath laying- 21st August 2019

Ÿ 2nd President of the Democratic Republic of South Africa 
Mr T Mbeki hosted Youth Day Intergenerational dialogue 
through TMF on the 16th June 2019

Ÿ  of Argentina hosted a Public Ambassador Alberto D'Alotto
Lecture Reconciliation and human rights commemorations on 
the 10th December 2019

Ÿ    on the 5th Ambassador Rodolfo Benitez Verson
Anniversary of the passing of Fidel Castro from Cuban 
embassy hosted 25th November 2019

Ÿ  from Former MEC of Human Settlements - Mr K Moiloa
Gauteng province on a guided tour visited 19th June 2019

Ÿ on Young Women development dialogue from Mrs Z Mbeki 
South Africa hosted on the 13th July 2019

Ÿ for Deputy President H.E Mr S Valdes Mesa from Cuba 
wreath-laying ceremony hosted 23rd May 2019

Ÿ  for discussions with CEO Mexican Ambassador Ms A L Fajer
on possible collaborations and Venue recci.

Ÿ on the Minister of Arts & Culture Mr N Mthethwa 
Shareholder compact signing hosted on the 11th December 
2019

Ÿ  on St Engenas ZCC leader –Bishop Engenas Lekganyane
a guided tour from South Africa visited on 18th June 2019

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020





GOVERNANCE

PART C

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

48



Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

49

Council, as the Accounting Authority, provides 
leadership, oversight and accountability. In this 
regard, the Council established governance 
structures at supporting levels with clearly 
approved mandates. Delegated powers are 

assigned to the Committees of Council, the Chief 
Executive Officer and management. 

Council ensures that it complies with good 
corporate governance through prescripts of the 
enabling and facilitating legislation, the main 
drivers being the Cultural Institutions Act, the 
Public Finance Management Act and the 
principles contained in the King's Report IV on 
Corporate Governance.

Corporate governance is an essential element of 
Freedom Park, like in all other organisations. It 
ensures that  assurance is  prov ided to 
stakeholders, and also, that the organisation is 
well managed and functioning with integrity and 
accountability. 

INTRODUCTION 1



The following reports were submitted to the Department of  Arts and Culture and/or National Treasury:  

50

EXECUTIVE 
AUTHORITY

2

REPORTS DATE OF 
SUBMISSION

Submitted final Quarterly Report to the Department for 2019/20 financial year 30 April 2019

Submitted signed AFS  for  2019/20 and management reports to Treasury and Auditor- 
General/External auditor for 2019/20 and Submitted list of all banking accounts to Treasury & 
Submit Annual Report performance measurement details to Auditor-General

30 May 2019

Submitted signed Treasury AFS Template to Treasury (unaudited) 30 June 2019

First Quarterly Report to the Department for 2019/20 financial year: 30 July 2019

Audit Report issued for 2019/20 & Audited financial statements to Treasury for 2019/20 and Final 
AFS consolidation template (Reviewed by AG/Auditors)     

30 July 2019

Submitted 1st draft Annual Performance Plan for 2020/21 to the Department 30 August 2019

Second Quarterly Report to the Department for 2019/20 & Audit Outcomes Improvement Plans 30 October 2019

Submitted 2nd draft Annual Performance Plan  for 2020/21 to the Department 30 November 2019

Submitted final Annual Performance Plan for 2020/21 to the Department & Submitted third 
quarterly Report to the Department for  2019/20 financial year & Audit Outcomes Plans

30 January 2020

1st Draft Shareholder's Compact Submitted to the Department 17 February 2020
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Ÿ to hold, preserve and safeguard all movable 
and immovable property of whatever kind 
placed in the care of or loaned or belonging to 
the declared institution concerned; 

Ÿ to raise funds for the institution; 

Ÿ Monitoring of Operational Performance and 
management. 

The Role of Council

The Council is the highest decision-making body 
and is accountable and responsible for the 
performance and affairs of Freedom Park. The 
functions of Council, in terms of the Cultural 
Institutions Act, are:- 

Ÿ to determine, subject to this Act and with the 
approval of the Minister, the objects of the 
declared institution; and

The determination of the remuneration and other 
conditions of service of persons appointed must 
be in accordance with a scheme approved by the 
Minister in consultation with the Minister of 
Finance.
As the Accounting Authority, the Council has 
responsibility in the following areas: 

Introduction

Ÿ to manage and control the moneys received by 
the declared institution and to utilise those 
moneys for defraying expenses in connection 

with the performance of its functions;

Council may determine the hours during which 
and the conditions and restrictions subject to 
which the public may visit the declared institution 
concerned or portion thereof, and the admission 
charges to be paid. In addition, the Council may 
appoint such persons as it considers necessary to 
perform the functions of the declared institution 
concerned. 

Ÿ to, generally, carry out the objects of the 
declared institution.

Ÿ to formulate policy; 

Council, as the Accounting Authority, ensures that 
it complies with its fiduciary duties as required by 
the Public Finance Management Act. As required, 
it acts with fidelity, honesty, integrity and in the best 
interests and in managing the financial affairs of 
Freedom Park. Council also discloses, on request 
from the Department of Arts and Culture, all 
material facts, including those reasonably 
discoverable, which in any way may influence the 
decisions or actions of the department. 

Ÿ Strategic role. 

Ÿ Determination of policy and procedures and 
Levels of Materiality to ensure the Integrity of 
Freedom Park. 

Ÿ to submit to the Director-General any returns 
required by him or her in regard thereto and to 
cause proper books of account to be kept;

During the financial year, Council consists of eight 
members who are all part-time, one of the Council 
Members, Mr Sithole resigned on 10 December 
2019. The Council Members are appointed for a 
period of three years and a Council Member 
whose period of office has expired may be 
reappointed. There is no limit to the number of 
terms a Council Member may serve. Council 
Members must be impartial and perform its 
function without fear, favour or prejudice.

Ÿ to receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all 
specimens, collections or other movable 
p roper t y  p laced  under  i t s  ca re  and 
management;

Ÿ to keep a proper record of the property of the 
declared institution;

Ÿ The Park's risk management and internal 
controls. 

Ÿ Conflict of interest and independence.

Ÿ C h a i r p e r s o n / C o u n c i l  M e m b e r 
Orientat ion/Induct ion and Succession 
Planning 

THE ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY/COUNCIL

3



Council Charter

Council is committed to upholding good corporate 
governance in all of its business dealings with the 
shareholder, regulatory authorities and other 
stakeholders. To this end, the Council adopted the 
Council Charter and Code of Conduct to regulate 
how business is conducted in accordance with the 
principles of good corporate governance. The 
Counc i l  Cha r te r  se t s  ou t  t he  spec i fic 
responsibilities of Council Members collectively 

and in their individual roles. The Council Charter 
and Code of Conduct is guided by the King lV 
Report and establishes standards of best 
governance practice and addresses the role of 
Council, meetings, Committees, Terms of 
Reference of the Committees and regulations of 
the Code of Conduct.
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THE ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY/COUNCIL

3

Member 29/4/19 29/5/19 27/6/19 27/7/19 07/8/19 30/8/19 29/10/19 05/12/19 29/1/20 22/2/20

Mr MCR 
Makopo
Chairperson

Dr MR 
Raphalalani

Kgosi EM 
Mabalane

Ms F 
Mohammed

Ms W  
Jabosigo

Dr P Dala

Mr M Mpanza

Mr T Sithole* * *

Mr Reginald 
Nyandeni

Composition of Council and Council meetings attended 

* Resigned on 10 December 2019.
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THE ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY/COUNCIL

3

Committee No of Meetings held No of Members Name of Members

Audit and Risk Committee 8 3 Council Members  Ms F Mohamed
Dr P Dala
Mr M Mpanza

 Core Business Committee 3 3 Council Members  Dr MR Raphalalani
Mr R Nyandeni
Mr T Sithole 

Chairpersons Committee 3 6 Council Members  

Ms F Mohamed 

Mr R Makopo

Kgosi EM Mabalane
Ms W Jabosigo

Mr M Mpanza
Dr MR Raphalalani

Ethics and Legal Committee 3 3 Council Members  Ms W Jabosigo
Kgosi EM Mabalane
Ms F Mohamed

Finance and Fundraising 
Committee

4 3 Council Members  

Mr T Sithole*

Mr M Mpanza
Mr R Nyandeni

HR & Remuneration 
Committee

3 3 Council Members  Kgosi EM Mabalane

Ms W Jabosigo
Dr MR Raphalalani

* Resigned on 10 December 2019.

Remuneration of Council Members

Ÿ Travel expenses are paid according to the Department of Transport Rates.

Ÿ Remuneration below was paid to Council Members: 

Ÿ Remuneration of Council Members is determined by National Treasury Service Benefit Packages for 
Office Bearers of certain Statutory institutions.



* Kgosi Mabalane travels by road to attend 
Committee and Council meetings, as air travel 
will be more costly. He stays in Mabalastad and 
travelling by road is more cost-effective than air 
travel which if used will result in air and road 
travel from Mabalastad to connect a flight in 
Rustenburg as well as shuttle services from and 
to the airport. The travel costs also include HR 
Committee related matters (shortlisting and 
interviews for the appointment of Heads of 
Departments as well as Grievances escalated 
to the HR and Remuneration Committee). 

* Dr Raphalalani travels by road to attend 
committee and Council meetings, as air travel 
will be more costly. She stays in Venda and 
travelling by road is more cost-effective than air 
travel which if used will result in air and road 
travel from Venda to connect a flight in 
Polokwane as well as shuttle services from and 
to the airport. The travel costs also include HR 
cCommittee related matters (shortlisting and 
interviews for the appointment of Heads of 
Departments as well as Grievances escalated 
to the HR and Remuneration Committee). 
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THE ACCOUNTING 
AUTHORITY/COUNCIL

3

Remuneration Paid to Council from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 

Member Total remuneration for Member Total Travel TOTAL

Mr MCR Makopo
Chairperson

95 391 0 95 391

Dr MR Raphalalani* 62 272 81 681.60 143 953,60

Kgosi EM Mabalane* 97 295 75 330.30 172 625,30

Ms F Mohamed 78 390 0 78 390

Ms W Jabosigo 50 518 9 363.96 59 881.96

Mr M Mpanza 74 906 20 370.00  95 276

Mr T  Sithole 48 336 0 48 336

Mr R Nyandeni 65 756 12 538.82 78 294.82

Dr P Dala* 99 294 3 212.90 102 506.90
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* Dr Dala is the Chairperson of the Risk 
Management  Commit tee and the ICT 
Governance Committee.
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RISK 
MANAGEMENT

4

The Entity makes use of a Risk Management 
Program (Cura), to facilitate the timeous 
identification, measurement, analysis and 
evaluation of risks. Each department is required to 
update the Risk Management Program on a 
quarterly basis, together with an up-to-date risk 
detailing, quantifying and prioritising risks, and 
containing details of plans and actions, both to 
mitigate risks and to exploit opportunities. The 
effectiveness of controls to manage the risks 
identified is evaluated by the Chief Executive 
Officer, Internal Audit and is formally reported to 
the Risk Management Committee, the Audit and 
Risk Committee and Council.

Enterprise Risk Management is the application of 
risk management throughout Freedom Park 
rather than only in selected business areas or 
disciplines. Accordingly, risk management at 
Freedom Park is centralised, with every 
Department responsible for risk management. 
Freedom Park instituted a robust enterprise risk 
management process, founded on a framework 
that is organisationally embedded, supported and 
assured, and continuously reviewed. 

Risk is considered as one of the primary 
management responsibilities, and to this end, 
management holds Risk Management meetings 
to assess risk and review implementation of 
mit igating controls In addit ion, the Risk 
Management Committee, chaired by a Council 
Member, was established in compliance with 
National Treasury Regulations.
 

The Risk Management Committee reports to the 
Audit and Risk Committee, which in turn reports to 
the Council as the highest decision-making body. 
In addition, a formal risk assessment exercise is 
undertaken annually to identify risks that may 
prevent Freedom Park from achieving its goals 
and objectives. The exercise enables Freedom 
Park to have a risk register, formulate appropriate 
risk strategies and action plans to mitigate and 
address risks. Quarterly risk assessments are 
also performed as part of the quarterly 
performance monitoring process.In compliance with good corporate governance, 

Counc i l  approved  the  En te rp r i se  R isk 
Management Policy and Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework as systems of internal 
control. Freedom Park's Risk Management 
Framework, which lays out guiding principles for 
the management of risk, comprises the totality of 
all the structures, policies, strategies and 
procedures within that deal with risk management 
at a strategic and operational level.

4.1  Nature of Risk Management:
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5 INTERNAL 
CONTROL UNIT

The Internal Audit function is outsourced. Internal 
control systems were introduced to provide 
Management and Council with comfort regarding 
the financial  posit ion of Freedom Park, 
safeguarding of assets (including information) and 
compliance with related laws and regulations.  
Internal Auditors monitor the functioning of internal 
control systems and make recommendations to 
Management, the delete, the Audit and Risk 
Committee and Council.

Freedom Park's internal control systems were 
designed to provide assurance of the integrity and 

reliability of the financial statements, to safeguard, 
verify and maintain accountability of its assets and 
to detect fraud, potential liability, loss and material 
misstatement while complying with applicable 
laws and regulations. Such controls were based 
on established policies and procedures and 
implemented with the appropriate segregation of 
duties. The Internal Audit function operated under 
the direction of the Audit and Risk Committee, 
which approves the scope of work to be 
performed.  
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INTERNAL AUDIT 
AND AUDIT COMMITTEES 6

Ÿ Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

Ÿ Systems of Internal Control.

Ÿ Oversight over the Internal Audit Function.

Ÿ Performance and Risk Management.

In terms of the Public Finance Management Act, 
Council has to comply with the compulsory 
establishment of an effective Internal Audit 
function, and the Audit Committee to monitor the 
scope and effectiveness of the Internal Audit 
function in an Entity.  

Ÿ Annual Financial Statements

The functions of the Audit and Risk Committee are 
inter alia as follows:

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist 
managemen t  i n  f u l fi l l i ng  i t s  ove rs igh t 
responsibilities for the systems of internal control 
and risk management, the audit process, and 
Freedom Park 's process for  moni tor ing 
compliance with all applicable legal requirements 
and accounting standards. As indicated, the audit 

function is performed by an external service 
provider in maintaining the independence of the 
audit function. 

Member 23/5/20
19 Finance & 

Audit 
Meeting 
combined 

29/5/2019 17/7/20
19 

26/7/20
19

29/10/20 
19

16/10/20
19

05/12/2
019

20/1/20 
20

06/3/20 
20

Ms F 
Mohamed

Mr M 
Mpanza

Dr P Dala

Mr R 
Makopo

Mr T 
Sithole

Mr R 
Nyandeni

Attendance of Audit and Risk Committee Meetings from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020
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7 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The policy also provides a broad and overarching 
framework intended to be read subject to specific 
compliance and reporting requirements. It is one 

of the elements of governance arrangements and 
is intended to complement other internal controls, 
processes and procedures. The policy identifies 
legislat ion for which Freedom Park has 
compliance responsibility, assigns primary 
responsibility for ensuring compliance and 
provides a process for quarterly reporting on 
legislative compliance to the Risk Management 
Committee, the Audit and Risk Committee and 
Council. 

Freedom Park is declared a cultural institution in 
terms of the Cultural Institutions Act. It is important 
for Freedom Park to comply with enabling and 
facilitating legislations as failure can result in 
litigation and reputational damage. Council 
approved the Compliance policy in ensuring 
compliance with legislation. The policy provides 
g u i d a n c e  o n  l e g i s l a t i v e  c o m p l i a n c e 
responsibilities so that the Council is satisfied that 
all measures are being taken across the 
organisation to comply with all legislation that has 
an impact on its mandate. 
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FRAUD 
AND CORRUPTION  8

Freedom Park has a zero-tolerance to fraud and 
corruption. To this end, the Council has a Fraud 
Prevention Policy and Plan. The Fraud Plan takes 
into account the risks of fraud and corruption as 
identified in risk assessments initiated by 
Freedom Park, a review of other pertinent 
documentation and interviews with selected 
Freedom Park officials.

In addition, Freedom Park also has the Whistle 
Blowing Policy. The anti-corruption hotline is also 
in place and is administered by the Office of Public 

Service Commission. All reported cases are 
forwarded to the Internal Auditors. The telephone 
number of the Anti-Corruption Hotline is posted on 
the Freedom Park website, and the intranet for the 
employees and the public; fraud awareness 
sessions are also internally conducted with all 
staff. Fraud reporting includes internal cases that 
are reported by the employees of Freedom Park to 
internal audit.

It is the responsibility of all employees to report all 
allegations or incidents of fraud and corruption 
immediately. All managers are responsible for the 
detection, prevention and investigation of fraud 
and corruption and must report all incidents and 
allegations of fraud and corruption. 

The Plan addresses strategic fraud and corruption 
risks that must be addressed and which could 
jeopardise the successful implementation of each 
component of the Plan. The Plan is dynamic and 
continuously evolves as Freedom Park makes 
changes and improvements in its drive to promote 
ethics as well as to fight fraud and corruption.
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9 MINIMISING CONFLICT 
OF INTEREST

The Declaration of Interests Policy is in place and 
regulates conflict of interests. The policy requires, 
among others that: 

Ÿ Before every Council, Committee and 
Management meetings, a Declaration of 
Interest Register is signed and should any 
Member declare any interest he/she will be 
recused from the meeting.

Ÿ Council Members and employees must 
declare, by way of a notice in writing, direct or 
indirect business interests that he/she or a 
f a m i l y  m e m b e r  m a y  h a v e  i n  a n y 
contract/tender or proposed /tender which has 
been or is to be entered into by the Freedom 

Park or who so becomes interested in any such 
contract/tender after it has been entered into.

Ÿ Council Members and all employees must 
annually declare direct or indirect business 
interests that he/she or a family member may 
have in any matter which is relevant to 
Freedom Park.
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CODE OF 
CONDUCT 10

Ÿ Honesty/Integrity; 

Ÿ Equity; and 

Ÿ Openness 

Keeping in mind that ethics refer to the institution's 
principles of conduct, employees of Freedom Park 
must at all times, comply with the following values 
in the execution of their tasks and official 
interactions: 

Ÿ Respect; 

Ÿ Commitment; 

The Code of Conduct, which also includes the 
Code of Ethics, is included in the Council Charter. 
The Code of Conduct is based on principles of 
honesty and integrity.  It guides Council Members 
and employees on aspects such as the protection 
of organisational assets and information, and 
conflicts of interest.

Freedom Park must ensure that official 
relationships reflect integrity, respect for human 
dignity, the rights of others, honesty and 
commitment to do what is right, fair, legal and just. 

Ÿ Professionalism; 
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11
HEALTH, SAFETY AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

Council approved the Occupational Health Policy 
in ensuring that it complies with health, safety and 
environmental requirements. Aligned with the 
related guidelines in King IV, Freedom Park is 
committed to ensuring that its activities do not 
compromise environmental, health and safety 
legislation. Although its major activities do not 
pose a significant threat to the environment, the 
organisation's management activities focus on 
compliance with the key features of existing 
regulations.
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COMPANY 
SECRETARY 12

Ÿ To promote compliance and good corporate 
governance within the institution by amongst 
others training, advising and providing 
guidance.

Ÿ To provide effective and efficient support to 
Council, management and staff by, amongst 
other things, effective minute taking, co-
ordination of statutory meetings and 
distribution of relevant information.

The Company Secretary is appointed by the 
Council and is tasked with supporting Council and 
the organisation to maximise its efficiency and to 
ensure that it conducts its business according to 
good corporate governance and practices.

The Company Secretary is located within 
Corporate Governance and is responsible for the 
operations of Council, including legal, secretarial 
and administrative support. In compliance with 
good corporate governance, the Company 
Secretary also facilitates self-assessment of the 
Council and its Committees as well as financial 
d i sc losures  by  Counc i l  Members .  The 
responsibilities are strategic and incorporate all 
matters pertaining to corporate governance and 
compliance with King IV Report.

The role and responsibilities of the Company 
Secretary are:

Ÿ To ensure compliance and good corporate 
governance throughout the Institution by 
providing legal guidance and support to the 
Council, management and employees to 
enable them to discharge their fiduciary and 
other responsibilities effectively.

Ÿ To provide guidance and advice within the 
Institution on matters of ethics, good 
governance, compliance and legal matters in 
order to ensure compliance and good 
governance.

Ÿ To ensure compliance with all relevant 
legislation, policies and procedures through 
monitoring the compliance within the 
Institution.

Ÿ To negotiate and draft agreements and 
provide opinions and interpretations of 
agreements to ensure the interest of the 
Institution is protected.

Ÿ To ensure the effective, efficient and 
economical implementation of institutional 
strategies and policies in accordance with 
relevant legislation and policies.

Ÿ To draft and advise on policies as well as 
compi l ing  manuals  and procedura l 
guidelines to ensure good governance.



13
SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

Freedom Park aligns itself with relevant 
institutions to create a better environment to live 
and work in. Community development takes place 
within the Salvokop Community, where the 

institution is situated. Other outreach projects to 
communities were the Hermanstad, Calvinia and 
youth projects which helped develop social 
community awareness. This kind of collective 
activism is reached by social education and 
awareness goals.

Freedom Park sees social responsibility as a form 
of self-regulation of their corporate conscience 
and citizenship. The goal of social Freedom Park's 
social responsibil ity is to encourage the 
institution's actions towards the positive impact of 
s takeho lder,  communi ty  and employee 
responsibility.

64
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AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE REPORT  14

The Audit and Risk Committee herewith presents 
its report for the financial year ended 31 March 
2020, as required by section 77 of the Public 
Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 
1999, as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999) (PFMA) 
read with treasury regulation 27.1.10.

The Audit and Risk Committee acknowledges 
management's efforts to strengthen internal 
controls in the Entity. The Audit and Risk 
Committee is concerned that in certain instances, 
the matters reported by the External Auditors and 
the internal audit function in prior years have not 
been ful ly and satisfactori ly addressed. 
Management has assured that effective corrective 
action will be implemented in respect of all internal 
control weaknesses, and the Audit and Risk 
Committee will monitor these going forward.

Legislative requirements
    

  

       

The Audit and Risk Committee has complied with 
its responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a)(ii) 
of the PFMA read with treasury regulation 27.1.8, 
and reports that it operated in terms of the Audit 
and Risk Committee Charter read in conjunction 
with the Internal Audit Charter.
   

Effectiveness of internal control
     

Audit and Risk Committee's responsibility

    

The Entity has adopted aggressive anti-corruption 
measures to curb the frequency and magnitude of 
fraud and corruption.
       
The Audit and Risk Committee is not completely 
satisfied with the consequence management, and 
these concerns have been ra ised wi th 
management. The Audit and Risk Committee has 
requested that a detai led consequence 
management plan and progress reports on the 
action plans for addressing the irregular and 
fruitless expenditure be tabled at each quarterly 
meeting of the Audit and Risk Committee.

   

Internal audit function

The accounting officer is obliged, in terms of the 
PFMA, to ensure that the Entity has a system of 
internal audit under the control and direction of the 
Audit and Risk Committee. The Audit and Risk 
Committee is satisfied that the internal audit 
function has appropriately discharged its functions 
and responsibilities during the year under review.

      

Due to the strategic importance of, and investment 
in, the information and communication technology 
(ICT) in Freedom Park, the Audit and Risk 
Committee has monitored the risk register and 
progress reports on the respective action plans 
during the year under review.

     

The quality of monthly and quarterly reports 
submitted in terms of the PFMA 

     

Risk management function
    

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for 
the oversight of the risk management function. 
The Risk Management Committee reports to the 
Audit and Risk Committee on the Entity's 
management of risk. To ensure that the Risk 
Management Committee understands the 
requirements of the Audit and Risk Committee, a 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee currently 
serves as the cha i rperson of  the Risk 
Management Committee.

The Audit and Risk Committee remains concerned 
that not all ICT risks are being addressed or 
mitigated.

    

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the 
internal audit function maintains an effective 
internal quality assurance and programme that 
covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. 

 

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied with the 
content and quality of management and quarterly 
reports prepared and issued during the year under 
review in compliance with the statutory 
framework. The Audit and Risk Committee has 
engaged  w i th  managemen t  to  remedy 
shortcomings, especially relating to reports on 
performance against predetermined objectives.

The Committee is satisfied that the internal audit 
function is operating effectively and that it has 
addressed the risks pertinent to the Entity.
  

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed and 
commented on the Freedom Park annual financial 
s ta tements and repor t  on per formance 
information and their timely submission to the 
external auditors by 31 July 2020.
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External auditor's report

Part of the responsibilities of the Audit and Risk 
Committee includes the review of performance 
management. The Audit and Risk Committee has 
in terms of the performance of the Entity 
performed the following functions:

Ÿ Review of the quarterly performance reports 
submitted by the internal audit function.

Ÿ Review and comment on the Ent i ty 's 
performance management system and making 
recommendations for its improvement.

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the 
annual financial statements prepared by Freedom 
Park before submission to Auditor General South 
Africa.

Ÿ Review of reported non-compliance with 
legislation.

Ÿ Review and comment on the relevance of 
indicators to ensure that they are measurable 
and relate to services performed by the Entity.

Ÿ Review and comment on the alignment of the 
annual performance plan, budget, strategic 
plan, corporate plan and performance 
agreements.

Except for the matters identified by the auditor 
general in the audit report, the Audit and Risk 
Committee is confident that the annual financial 
statements have been prepared in terms of GRAP 
and the PFMA.

Ÿ Review of compliance within-year reporting 
requirements.

Performance management
  

The external audit function, performed by the 
Auditor General South Africa, is independent of 
the Entity. The Audit and Risk Committee has met 
with the external auditors to ensure that there are 
no unresolved issues and acknowledges the 
diligence and cooperation of the external audit 
team.

On the whole, the Audit and Risk Committee is 
satisfied with the Entity's finance function during 
the year under review.

The Audit and Risk Committee is concerned with 
the risk function being understaffed, which will 
result in non-delivery by the function if the situation 
is not addressed. The Committee has reviewed 
the risk register and the reports from the Risk 
Committee and is generally satisfied with the 
maturity of the Risk Management Process.

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that the 
performance report has been prepared in terms of 
the PFMA, the Treasury Regulations and any 
other related regulatory requirements for reporting 
performance.

Ÿ Review and comment on compliance with 
statutory requirements and performance 
management best practices and standards.

Evaluation of the finance function

   

Evaluation of the annual financial statements

The Chief Financial Officer was appointed on the 
1st August 2019, the finance function could not 
perform at its optimal capacity with the vacuum 
that existed in the leadership. Prior to the 
appointment of the Chief Financial Officer, there 
was a significant strain on the finance function to 
deliver quality information on a timely basis.

     

      

       

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs with and 
accepts the conclusion and audit opinion of the 
external auditors on the annual financial 
statements. The Committee is of the view that the 
audited financial statements be accepted and 
read together with the report of the external 
auditors. The Audit and Risk Committee confirms 
that it has been actively involved throughout the 
audit process and has been thoroughly appraised 
of the issues giving rise to the audit opinion.

30 September 2020

Ms F Mohamed
Chairperson of the Audit and risk committee

Freedom Park

AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE REPORT  14
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Human Resources department is both a strategic 
and  opera t iona l  par tner  ach iev ing  the 
organisation strategic objectives and that its 
support function ensures that the other line 
function partners achieve the organisational 
targets. Human Resources under the year in 
review had to align its operations to the financial 
constraints in the organisation.  
   

Employee Relations and collective bargaining 
structures and processes.
   

Human Resources instituted the following 
employee wellness programmes  for the year 
under review; 

  

Employee Wellness   

Ÿ Financial Management workshops for staff to 
obtain information on their provident fund 
financial information and another workshop 
wherein prudent money banking skills are 
imparted to them.  

      

    

Discipline

    

   

    

The disability employee employment target is still 
the elusive one, and the following measures were 
envisaged; to liaise with an institution that has 
disabled employees database and as well include 
a caption in our media job advertisement that the 
job is subject to the institution employment equity 
plan. 

   

Labour relations environment was not always 
smooth, but despite this, the collective bargaining 
and dispute resolution structures and process 
were maintained. The annual salary review was 
finalised without any undue impact on the 
operations of the organisation.

Skills Training and development

Ÿ Muskuletal Assessments for staff wherein work 
ergonomics related factors are assessed. 

The function of discipline in the employment realm 
is to ensure that the individual employee 
contributes effectively and efficiently to the goals 
of the organisation. The institution runs two 
discipline systems; disciplinary and grievance. 

There was a change in the internal union 
leadership and a breakdown of continuity between 
them and their regional structures. A new union 
internal leadership was established, and 
subsequently, the annual salary review was 
finalised, and there was no change to any existing 
terms and conditions of employment. Moving 
forward, it became clear that these annual salary 
negotiations have to be started early in the 
preceding year and strive mostly for multi-year 
salary review agreement rather than annual 
bargaining.

The internal ongoing consultative forum between 
management and the union resumed, and much 
more frequent meetings were implemented.

Ÿ Discovery Wellness Day where an employee's 
health, vision  and HIV annual checks are 
done.

Employment Equity
     

Of the total workforce, both female and males are 
well represented in the different occupational 
levels. The senior management occupation level 
has more females.

     

There was one termination of employment 
discipline for the year; only verbal and lastly only 
one written warning.Discipline consequences 
were instituted.

Human Resources operations include an 
employee wellness programme; a programme 
that nurtures the physical and wellbeing of an 
employee. It further assists employees to keep up 
with the ever-changing  work environment.

    

Training and development of staff in the 
organisation are delivered through in- house and 
public training courses, study assistance for 
distant academic learning and work learner on -
the- job training.
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HUMAN RESOURCE 
MANAGEMENT



The financial situation in the organisation 
constrained the training and development  
function. 

Despite this, the organisation provided on the job 
training for at least nineteen university students 
and two  Skills SETA  level work learners.  

Recruitment and retention of critical skills
       

As far as the building of human capital and 
retention of essential skills job levels, labour 
turnover occurred with the Chief Financial Officer 
post, and this post was filled with no delays and 
consequently ensured minimised operational 
occurrence.
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Freedom Park provide the following key 
information on human resources. All the financial 

amounts agrees to the amounts disclosed in the 
annual financial statements where it is relevant.  
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Programme Total Expenditure 
for the entity (R'000)

Personnel 
Expenditure (R'000)

Personnel exp. 
as a % of total 

exp. (R'000)

No. of 
employees

Average personnel 
cost per employee 

(R'000)

Administration 62 807 32 110 51% 51 630

Business Development 21 907 18 340 84% 23 767

Public Engagement 15 884 12 019 76% 18 668

Personnel Cost by Programme 

Level Personnel 
Expenditure (R'000)

% of personnel exp. to total 
personnel cost (R'000)

No. of 
employees

Average personnel cost 
per employee (R'000)

Top Management 2 043 3% 1 2 043

Senior Management 6 430 11% 5 1 286

Professionally qualified 28 356 45% 30 945

Skilled 15 683 25% 24 653

Semi-skilled 7 425 12% 21 354

Unskilled 2 332 4% 11 212

TOTAL 62 469 100% 92

Personnel Cost by Salary Band

Programme Performance rewards Personnel Expenditure 
(R'000)

% of performance rewards  to 
total personnel cost (R'000)

Top Management 0 2 043 0%

Senior Management 0 6 430 0%

Professional qualified 0 28 356 0%

Skilled 0 15 683 0%

Semi-skilled 0 7 425 0%

Unskilled 0 2 332 0%

TOTAL 0 62 469

Performance Rewards
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Directorate/ Business 
Unit

Personnel 
Expenditure 
(R'000) (R'000)

Training 
Expenditure

Training 
Expenditure as a % 
of Personnel Cost.

No. of 
employees 
trained

Avgas training  
cost per employee

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Training Costs 

Programme
No. of Employees

2019/2020 
 Approved Posts 

2019/2020 2019/2020 
Vacancies

% of vacancies

Top Management 1 1 0 0%

Senior Management 5 6 1 16%

Professional qualified 30 32 2 6%

Skilled 24 27 3 11%

Semi-skilled 21 23 2 9%

Unskilled 11 19 8 42%

TOTAL 92 108 16 15%

Employment and vacancies

Salary Band Employment at the 
beginning of the period

Appointments Terminations Employment at the 
end of the period

Top Management 1 0 0 1

Senior Management 4 1 0 5

Professional qualified 31 1 2 30

Skilled 22 2 0 24

Semi-skilled 20 1 0 21

Unskilled 11 0 0 11

TOTAL 89 5 2 92

Employment changes
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Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 0 0

Resignation 4 0.16%

Dismissal 1 0.16%

Retirement 0 0.16%

Ill health 0 0%

Expiry of contract 0 0%

Other 1 0%

Total 6

Reasons for staff leaving (16)

Nature of Disciplinary Action Number 

Verbal Warning 1

Written Warning 2

Final Written warning 64

Dismissal 1

Total 67

Labour Relations: Misconduct and Disciplinary Action

Levels Male

 African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 14 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Skilled 10 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 6 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 40 0 2 0 1 0 0 0

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status 



Levels Female

 African Coloured Indian White

Current Target Current Target Current Target Current Target

Top Management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 10 0 0 0 0 0 3 0

Skilled 14 0 2 0 1 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 9 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Unskilled 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 41 0 2 0 1 0 5 0

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status 

Levels Disabled Staff

 Male Female

Current Target Current Target

Top Management 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 0 0 0

Professional qualified 0 0 0 0

Skilled 0 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 0 0

Equity Target and Employment Equity Status 
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Schedule 3A Public Entity in terms of the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act 1 of 1999)

Mr M Mpanza

Dr P Dala

Kgosi EM Mabalane

Mr T Sithole

Mr R Nyandeni

Dr MR Raphalalani

Ms F Mohamed

Mr MCR Makopo Chairperson

Ms W Jabosigo

The annual financial statements were internally compiled by:

Ms H Ramugadi (Chief Financial Officer)

1

General Information
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Ms RM Koto



The reports and statements set out below comprise the annual financial 
statements presented to the Council:

Accounting Authority's Responsibilities and Approval      85

Statement of Financial Position         86

Statement of Financial Performance        87

Statement of Changes in Net Assets        88

Cash Flow Statement          89

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts     90

Accounting Policies           91

Report of the Auditor General           79

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements       106 

ACRONYMS / ABBREVIATIONS

ASB    Accounting Standards Board

CFO    Chief Financial Officer

PFMA   Public Finance Management Act

UIF    Unemployment Insurance Fund

ICT   Information Communication Technology

COID    Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases (South Africa)

IT    Information Technology

GRAP   Generally Recognised Accounting Practice

Index
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Report of the auditor-general to 
parliament on Freedom Park

(Registration number GG NO 31443 of 26 September 2008)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Report on the audit of the financial statements
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(Registration number GG NO 31443 of 26 September 2008)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020

Index
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31-39

18 of 
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86

The Council acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the entity and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the Council to meet these responsibilities, the accounting authority sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the entity and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 
the entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The 
focus of risk management in the entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 
of risk across the entity. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity endeavours to minimise it 
by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and 
managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Council is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the 
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the 
preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide 
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The annual financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Standards of 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

The entity is wholly dependent on the Department of Arts and Culture for continued funding of operations. 
The annual financial statements are prepared on the basis that the entity is a going concern and that the 
Department of Arts and Culture has neither the intention nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially the 
scale of the entity.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Council has reviewed the entity’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2021 and, in the light of this 
review and the current financial position, it is satisfied that the entity has access to adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 87 to 125 which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the accounting authority on 30 September 2020 and were signed on its behalf by:

The Council is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate 
accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and 
related financial information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Council to ensure that the 
annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended. The external auditors are engaged 
to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements and were given unrestricted access to 
all financial records and related data.

Mr MCR Makopo
Chairperson Freedom Park

Accounting Authority's 
Responsibilities and Approval
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Annual Financial Statements

87

* See Note 35

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

* See Note 35
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* See Note 35
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Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

* See Note 35
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET 
AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



96

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



97

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



98

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



99

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



100

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



101

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



102

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



103

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



104

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



105

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



106

Freedom Park Annual Report 2019 | 2020

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020



107

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Operating lease liabilities 
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5 745 452
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1 419 291
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Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

14 569 611

1 419 291
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Annual Financial Statements
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

initially







CONTACT DETAILS

Pretoria, 0001  

Salvokop, Pretoria, 001

Tel: 012 336 4000

PO BOX 2710

Fax: 012 336 4021

Corner Koch and 7th Avenue 

POSTAL ADDRESS:

PHYSICAL ADDRESS:

www.freedompark.co.za

PR186/2020
ISBN: 978-0-621-48549-3

CELEBRATING  OF 20 YEARS
HONORING OUR STRUGGLE 

HEROES AND HEROINES 
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